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Fien

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF
FLORIDA FORT MYERS DIVISION .
16 0:C20 &K 1154

ERIKA MATOS, individually and CLLE

on behalf of all others similarly situated, RIODLE L oy LG«:ID',\
CLASS PR TLA
Plaintiff, REPRESENTATION
v.
Case No.:

RCS RECOVERY SERVICES, LLC, a Florida

limited liability company, and GLADSTONE ‘77 l'/é7 <€ l/ - 4/05 -ZQML ,’7’27 C//l’\

LAW GROUP, a Florida for profit corporation

Defendants.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND

COMES NOW, the Plaintiff, ERIKA MATOS (herein after “MATQOS”), by and through
her undersigned counsel, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, and sues
Defendants, RCS RECOVERY SERVICES, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
(hereinafter “RCS”), and GLADSTONE LAW GROUP, a Florida for profit corporation
(hereinafter “GLADSTONE”), and alleges as follows:

PART I: INTRODUCTION
1. This is a class action brought pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and is an
action for damages arising from the Defendant’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et. seq., the Fair
Debt Collection Practices Act (hereinafter “FDCPA), which prohibits debt collectors from
engaging in abusive, deceptive, and unfair practices.
2. Simply put, Defendant, RCS, routinely attempts to collect debts which are time barred by
Florida Statute §95.11, and fails to notify the debtors of same and of any repercussions of paying

on a time barred debt such as the revival of the statute of limitations.



Case 2:16-cv-00903-JES-CM Document 1 Filed 12/20/16 Page 2 of 12 PagelD 2

3. Defendant, GLADSTONE, sent a collection letter, dated November 2, 2016, attempting
to collect a debt which is time barred. See: Exhibit A.
4. Defendant RCS routinely hires GLADSTONE to represent them and collect on time
barred debt.
5. GLADSTONE is RCS’ agent and acting as same at all times material hereto.
6. Defendants RCS and GLADSTONE attempt to collect on these time barred debts through
false representations and unlawful communications in violation of the FDCPA.
7. At all times material hereto, all Defendants were acting in concert.
8. Plaintiff ERIKA MATOS, on behalf of herself and the putative class, seeks statutory
damages under the FDCPA, as well as injunctive and declaratory‘relief.
9. The Plaintiff has retained the below-signed attorneys and is obligated to pay them a
reasonable fee for their services.

PART II: THE PARTIES
10.  Plaintiff, ERIKA MATOS, is a natural person residing in Lee County, Florida.
11.  MATOS’ former property, located at 1237 Decature Street E, Lehigh Acres, Lee County,
Florida was the subject of a foreclosure action by Mortgage Lenders Network USA, Inc., RCS’s
predecessor in interest.
12.  Defendant, RCS, collects on alleged mortgage loan debts.
13. Defendant, GLADSTONE, acts as an agent for RCS and is a Florida for profit
corporation, and has its principal place of business in Margate, Florida.
14.  RCS was registered in Florida as a mortgage loan servicer.
I5.  RCS regularly uses the mail and telephone in a business, the purpose of which is the

collection of debt(s).
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16.  GLADSTONE regularly uses the mail and telephone in a business, the purpose of which
is the collection of debit(s).

17.  RCS is a “debt collector” as defined by the FDCPA at 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6).

18.  GLADSTONE is a “debt collector” as defined by the FDCPA at 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6).

19.  Defendant RCS is a business entity engaged in the business of soliciting and/or collection
consumer debts for collection and is therefore a “consumer collection agency” under Fla. Stat.
§559.55.

20.  Defendant GLADSTONE is a business entity engaged in the business of soliciting and/or

collection consumer debts for collection and is therefore a “consumer collection agency” under

Fla. Stat. §559.55.
21.  Defendant RCS is subject to the provisions of the FDCPA.

22.  Defendant GLADSTONE is subject to the provisions of the FDCPA.

PART III: JURISDICTION AND VENUE

23. The damages, exclusive of attorneys’ fees, prejudgment interest, and costs, are within the
jurisdictional limits of this Court.

24. This Court has jurisdiction under 15 U.S.C. §1692k(d) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

25. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the
events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred and/or emanated in this district, and
because Defendant has caused harm to the Plaintiff residing in this district.

26. ERIKA MATOS is a natural person, citizen of the State of Florida, domiciled in Lee County,

Florida and is sui juris.
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27.  Defendants have intentionally availed themselves of the laws and markets of this Judicial
District and therefore is subject to personal jurisdiction in this Judicial District.

PART IV: FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
28.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates herein by reference 1 through 27 above.
29.  US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE initiated a foreclosure action in
Lee County styled 07-CA-17892.
30. On January 22, 2010, the court entered an order of Final Judgment in the foreclosure case
number 07-CA-17892.
31.  The subject property was sold at the foreclosure auction on February 25, 2010 and the
Certificate of Title was issued to US Bank National Association as Trustee on March 9, 2010.
Said Certificate of Title was recorded at Instrument No.:201000060793 in the public records of
Lee County, Florida.
32, On or about November 2, 2016, ERIKA MATOS received a letter from GLADSTONE,
attempting to collect a payment in the amount of $46,815.20 for the alleged debt resulting from a
Home Equity Line of Credit original creditor Mortgage Lenders Network USA, INC. and the
Owner of the Debt: RCS Recovery Services, LLC. See: Collection Letter, attached hereto as
Exhibit “A.”
33.  Plaintiff’s last payment made to MORTGAGE LENDERS NETWORK USA, INC. was
on or about June, 2010. Therefore pursuant to the Florida Statute §95.11, the time expired to take
legal action on this account was on or about July 2015, and makes this a time barred debt.
34. The Collection Letter specifically identifies the original creditor as MORTGAGE

LENDERS NETWORK USA, INC. and the Owner of the debt as RCS RECOVERY
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SERVICES, LLC. The collection letter further states that: “As of the date of this letter, the
amount you owe is $46,815.20.”
35.  The debt at issue was a consumer debt, incurred primarily for personal, household or
family use.
36.  The letter also seeks to create a false sense of urgency in the Plaintiff; threatens or
implies the threat of action; and utilizes false, deceptive, or misleading representation in
connection with the collection of a debt. See: Exhibit “A”.
37.  Plaintiff maintains that Defendants’ collection activities are unlawful and prohibited by
the FDCPA.
38.  Upon information and belief, Plaintiff contends that Defendants have sent hundreds, if
not théusands, of similar letters to collect consumer debts against Florida consumers.
39.  The FDCPA has been construed by Federal Courts as a strict liability statute that is to be
construed liberally so as to effectuate its remedial purpose. Russell v. Equifax A.R.S., 74 F.3d
30, 33 (2d Cir. 1996).
40.  Any potential bona fide error defense which relies upon Defendants’ mistaken
interpretation of the legal duties imposed upon them by the FDCPA would fail as a matter of
law. Jerman v. Carlisle, McNellie, Rini, Kramer & Ulrich, L.P.A., 130 S.Ct. 1605 (U.S. April 21,
2010).

PART V: CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
41.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates herein by reference the paragraph contained in Parts
L, 11, III, and IV, above.

42,  Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated.
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43. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) and 23(b), Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of the

following Class:
(i) all Florida residents to whom (ii) during the two year period prior to the
filing of this Complaint (iii) Defendant mailed a letter or other
communications substantially in the form of the collection letter Exhibit
“A” (iv) in an attempt to collect a non-business debt that is time barred (v)
which letters were not returned as undeliverable by the postal service. The

class definition may be subsequently modified or redefined,

44.  This action arises out of the illegal manner in which GLADSTONE and RCS attempt to
collect time-barred debts without disclosing information and misleading consumers.
45.  The class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable because there may
be hundreds and/or thousands of persons who were sent the debt collection letters from the
Defendants. The form Plaintiff is complaining of is a form letter.
46. There are questions of law and fact which are common to the class and which
predominate over questions affecting any individual Class member. These include, but are not
limited to:

a. Whether the Defendants violated various provisions of the FDCPA.

b. Whether the Defendants violated various provisions of the FCCPA.

c. Whether the Plaintiff and class are entitled to declaratory and/or injunctive

relief.

47. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the class, which all arise from the same operative facts and

are based on the same legal theories.
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48. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interest of the Class and has retained
experienced and competent attorneys to represent the class. Plaintiff has no adverse interest
to the interest of the other members of the class.

49. A class action is superior to piecemeal litigation for the fair and efficient adjudication of the
claims asserted herein. The Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the
entire class.

COUNT I: FDCPA
(As to Defendant GLADSTONE LAW GROUP)

50.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates herein by reference the paragraphs contained in Parts

I, 11, and III above.

51.  The Collection letters sent by the Defendant are to be evaluated by the objective standard

of the “least sophisticated consumer™.

52.  The form, layout, and contents of Defendant’s letter would cause the least sophisticated

consumer to be confused about his or her rights and the consequences of making a payment on

any allegedly owed debt.

53.  Defendant’s attempt to entice Plaintiff into making a payment without explaining the

possible consequences of doing so would cause the least sophisticated consumer to be confused

about his or her rights and the consequences of making any form of a payment.

54. Defendant engaged in false, deceptive, or misleading representations or means in

violation of 15 U.S.C. §§1692¢, 1692¢(2)(A) and 1692¢(10).

55.  Defendant engaged in unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect a

debt in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692f.
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56. By failing to advise the Plaintiff that the applicable statute of limitations could be
revived, the Defendant engaged in false, deceptive, or misleading representations or means in
violation of 15 U.S.C. §§1692e, 1692¢(2)(A) and 1692¢(10).

57.  The FDCPA is a strict liability statute, Ferguson v. Credit Management Control, Inc., 140
F.Supp.2d 1293, 1297 (M.D. Fla. 2001); it applies even when a false representation is

unintentional, Clark v. Capital Credit & Collection Serv., 460 F.3d 1162, 1175 (9" Cir. 2006);

and a single violation of the statute is sufficient to trigger civil liability, Ferguson, 140 F.Supp.2d
at 1297.
58.  Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢ of the FDCPA in its communication with the
Plaintiff.
59.  The Defendant’s conduct as complained of herein violates the FDCPA.
60.  Plaintiff and others similarly situated have suffered harm and damages as a direct result
of the abusive, deceptive and unfair collection practices described herein.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, ERIKA MATOS, individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated, demands judgment against the Defendant, GLADSTONE, as follows:

a. Declaring this action is properly maintainable as a Class Action and certifying Plaintiff as

Class Representative and her attorneys as class counsel;

b. Actual and Statutory damages;

c. pre-judgment interest;

d. post-judgment interest;

¢. attorney’s fees and costs; and

f. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem to be just and proper.
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COUNT II: FDCPA

(As to Defendant RCS)

61. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates herein by reference the paragraphs contained in
Parts I, 11, and III above.

62.  Defendant GLADSTONE sent out the collection letter attached hereto as Exhibit A while
acting as the agent for Defendant RCS and at the request of RCS.
63.  The Collection letters sent by the Defendant are to be evaluated by the objective standard
of the “least sophisticated consumer™.
64.  The form, layout, and contents of Defendant’s letter would cause the least sophisticated
consumer to be confused about his or her rights and the consequences of making a payment on
any allegedly owed debt.
65.  Defendant’s attempt to entice Plaintiff into making a payment without explaining the
possible consequences of doing so would cause the least sophisticated consumer to be confused
about his or her rights and the consequences of making any form of a payment.
66.  Defendant engaged in false, deceptive, or misleading representations or means in
violation of 15 U.S.C. §§1692¢, 1692¢(2)(A) and 1692¢(10).
67.  Defendant engaged in unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect a
debt in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692f.
68. By failing to advise the Plaintiff that the applicable statute of limitations could be
revived, the Defendant engaged in false, deceptive, or misleading representations or means in
violation of 15 U.S.C. §§1692¢, 1692¢e(2)(A) and 1692¢(10).
69. The FDCPA is a strict liability statute, Ferguson v. Credit Management Control, Inc., 140

F.Supp.2d 1293, 1297 (M.D. Fla. 2001); it applies even when a false representation is
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unintentional, Clark v. Capital Credit & Collection Serv., 460 F.3d 1162, 1175 (9" Cir. 2006);
and a single violation of the statute is sufficient to trigger civil liability, Ferguson, 140 F.Supp.2d
at 1297,
70. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢ of the FDCPA in its communication with the
Plaintiff.
71.  The Defendant’s conduct as complained of herein violates the FDCPA.
72.  Plaintiff and others similarly situated have suffered harm and damages as a direct result
of the abusive, deceptive and unfair collection practices described herein.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, ERIKA MATOS, individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated, demands judgment against the Defendant, GLADSTONE, as follows:

a. Declaring this action is properly maintainable as a Class Action and certifying Plaintiff as

Class Representative and her attorneys as class counsel;

b. Actual and Statutory damages;

c. pre-judgment interest;

d. post-judgment interest;

e. attorney’s fees and costs; and

f. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem to be just and proper.

COUNT III: DECLARATORY RELIEF AND PERMANENT INJUNCTION
73. On behalf of the putative class, Plaintiff incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 49 herein.

74. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§2201 and 2202 Plaintiff, on behalf of the putative class, seeks a
declaration that Defendant’s practices are in violation of the FDCPA,; specifically, Plaintiff

alleges that the Defendants have violated FDCPA by collecting debts in a deceptive way

10
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which fails to inform consumers that the debt is time barred, thus no suit can be filed and if a
partial payment is made, it would revive the statute of limitations.

75. Defendant, in disregard to the FDCPA and Florida law, attempted to collect and/or collected
debts in the state of Florida from Florida citizens.

76. Plaintiff seeks a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendant from attempting to collect
alleged debts and collecting alleged debts using deceptive tactics and failing to advise as to
the legal status of the debt from the putative class members.

77. Plaintiff seeks injunctive relief in accordance with her rights under both state and federal law
and on behalf of the putative class.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of the putative class, request that the Court enter

judgment in favor of Plaintiff and the class and against Defendant for:

a. A Declaration that Defendant has violated the FDCPA and that the subject debts sought by

Defendant is legally unenforceable and void as a matter of law;

b. Permanently enjoining Defendant and any other parties from collecting the subject debts;
c. Statutory and Actual damages;

d. Attorney’s fees, litigation expenses and costs of suit; and

e. Such other or further relief as the Court deems proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff, ERIKA MATOS, hereby requests a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

Dated this 19" day of December 2016.

VILES & BECKMAN, LLC

11
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Attomeys for Plaintiffs

6350 Presidential Court, Suite A

Fort Myers, Florida 33919

Telephone: 239-334-3933

Facsimile: 239-334-7105

Email: Maria@vilcsandbeckman.com
Secondary: Joanneg:vilesandbeckman.com

By:/s/Maria Alaimo, Esq.
Maria Alaimo, Esquirc
Florida Bar Number: 103870
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GLADSTONE

LAW GROUP

1499 W. Palmetto Park Road, Suile 300, Boca Raton, F1L 33486
Phonc 855-536-1538 e Fax 561-338-4077 » www.gladstonelawgroup.com

11/02/2016

Erika Matos

OUR CLIENT: RCS RECOVERY SERVICES, LL.C

ORIGINAL CREDITOR: MORTGAGE LENDERS NETWORK USA, INC
CLIENT ACCOUNT NOQ.: 157563

OUR FILE # 162880130

CURRENT AMOUNT DUE: $46,815.20

Dear Erika Matos:

This firm has been refained to represent RCS RECOVERY SERVICES, LLC to collect the above-
referenced account. As of the date of this letter, the amount you owe is $46,815.20.

Unless you notify (his office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt
or any portion thereof, this office will assume this debt is valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30
days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, this office will
obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such verification or judgment,
If you request of this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice this office will provide you with
the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current creditor.

Please make your paymeni payable to Gladstone Law Group Trust Account; and send it to 1499 West
Palmetto Park Road, Sic. 300 Boca Raton, Florida 33486.

Should you have any questions, comments, please contact this office.

Very truly yours,

e

Gladstone Law Group, P.A.

‘THIS COMMUNICATION IS FROM A DEBT COLLECTOR AND IS AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A
DEBT. ANY INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE.

EXHIBIT

I A
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